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(CFF VI.R.2 (emphasis added).) The administrative law judge finds that the terms supra 

emphasized describe the environment in which the claimed cartridge is to operate. In re Stencel, 

828 F.2d at 751. 

As to any failure of complainants to provide discovery, the active respondents had ample 

opportunity to file motions to compel. Based on the evidence in the record, the claim 

interpretation of the asserted claims by the administrative law judge and the language of the 

asserted claims as well as consideration of the post hearing submissions of the active 

respondents, the administrative law judge finds that said respondents have not established the 

affirmative defenses of implied license, permissible repair and unclean hands. 

XI. Remedy 

Complainants seek the issuance of a general exclusion order barring entry into the United 

States of infringing cartridges to prevent respondents and other foreign manufacturers and 

domestic distributors from engaging in violation of section 337. (CBr at 186-219.) Should the 

Commission conclude that a general exclusion order is inappropriate, complainants argued that 

the Commission should issue a limited exclusion order directed at all infringing ink cartridges for 

use with Epson printers that are manufactured by or for each respondent. (CBr at 219.) 

With respect to any cease and desist orders, complainants argued that the domestic 

respondents Ninestar U.S., Town Sky, Dataproducts and MMC each have a commercially 

significant amount of infringing Epson-compatible ink cartridges in inventory in the United 

States; that the domestic respondents that have defaulted, y&. Glory South, AcuJet, and Mipo 

America, also have a commercially significant amount of infringing Epson-compatible ink 

cartridges in inventory in the United States; and that cease and desist orders are therefore 
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warranted against each of those respondents. It is further argued that the cease and desist orders 

against Ninestar U.S., Town Sky, Dataproducts, MMC, Glory South, AcuJet and Mipo America 

should encompass their Internet activities; that each of said respondents maintains a website for 

the purpose of accepting or facilitating sales orders, and such websites provide information about 

respondents’ infringing Epson-compatible ink cartridges; that Ninestar U.S. and Town Sky have 

acknowledged that 100% of their sales involve the Internet; and that MMC’s and AcuJet’s 

websites allow consumers to directly place orders for ink cartridges. (CBr at 219-20.) 

The active respondents argued that an exclusion order against them is not appropriate 

because complainants have failed to establish that their cartridges infringe any valid claims of the 

patents asserted against them. To the extent the administrative law judge determines that an 

exclusion order is appropriate against the active respondents, it is argued that a general exclusion 

order is not warranted; that complainants have not set forth sufficient evidence of a widespread 

pattern of infringement or of the required “certain business conditions;” that Epson’s 

investigators failed to provide sufficient evidence to establish widespread infringement or ease of 

entry to market and gathered information through extensive, deliberate misrepresentation; that 

testimony of Epson’s investigators regarding importation is untrustworthy; that Epson’s primary 

witness on the likelihood of other foreign manufacturers entering the U.S. market was not 

competent to testify on that subject; and that much of the testimony of said primary witness was 

inconsistent with his position that foreign manufactured cartridges were of lower quality and that 

he was uncertain whether foreign manufacturers can obtain product labeling for less money that 

Epson. (RBr at 200-04.) 
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Regarding the issuance of any cease and desist orders, it was argued by the active 

respondents that a cease and desist order directed against them is inappropriate because 

complainants have failed to set forth sufficient proof necessary to support a cease and desist 

order and that to the extent that the administrative law judge determines that cease and desist 

orders are warranted, Commission precedent dictates that any such order should not be issued as 

against the foreign respondent, Ninestar Zhuhai, as it is neither a domestic respondent nor does it 

maintain any inventory within the United States. (RBr at 205-08.) 

With respect to the MMC respondents, said respondents on February 12,2007 filed 

“Post-hearing Submission of Respondents MMC Consumables, Inc. and Zhuhai Gree Magneto- 

Electric Co., Ltd. Regarding Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.” No other filing was 

made. In said filing of February 12, no reference is made to remedy. It stated: 

With regard to Proposed Findings Of Facts, MMC and Zhuhai 
Gree submit to, and agree with, the Proposed Findings Of Facts 
submitted by Respondents Ninestar Technology Co., Ltd., Ninestar 
Technology Company, Ltd., Town Sky Inc. and Dataproducts USA 
LLC (collectively “Ninestar”). 

The staff argued that if a violation of section 337 is found, entry of a general exclusion 

order is appropriate. However it was argued that for the ‘472 patent that is not being asserted 

against the active respondents the evidence is not adequate to show a violation, and hence only 

limited exclusion orders directed at the defaulting respondents are appropriate. (SBr at 118-19.) 

As to any cease and desist orders, the staff argued that the “U.S. based Respondents maintain a 

commercially significant inventory of accused products” and hence cease and desist orders 

against said respondents are appropriate. (SBr at 119-20.) 
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Where a violation of section 337 has been found, the Commission must consider the 

issues of remedy, the public interest, and bonding. With respect to remedy, the Commission may 

issue a remedial order excluding the goods of the person(s) found in violation (a limited 

exclusion order) or, if certain criteria are met, against all infringing goods regardless of the 

source (a general exclusion order). 

Depending on the circumstances, the Commission’s authority to issue a general exclusion 

order may be found in section 337(d)(2) which provides that: 

The authority of the Commission to issue an exclusion from entry of articles shall 
be limited to persons determined by the Commission to be violating this section 
unless the Commission determines that-- 

(A) a general exclusion from entry of article is necessary to prevent 
circumvention of an exclusion order limited to products of named 
persons; or 

(B) there is a pattern of violation of this section and it is difficult to 
identify the source of infringing products. 

19 U.S.C. 8 1337(d)(2). Also Section 337(g)(2) provides that: 

In addition to the authority of the Commission to issue a general exclusion from 
entry of articles when a respondent appears to contest an investigation concerning 
a violation of the provisions of this section, a general exclusion from entry of 
articles, regardless of the source or importer of the articles, may be issued if-- 

(A) no person appears to contest an investigation concerning a 
violation of the provisions of this section, 

(B) such a violation is established by substantial, reliable, and 
probative evidence, and 

(C) the requirement of subsection (d)(2) of this section are met. 
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Read together, section 337(g)(2) supplements the authority granted to the Commission 

under section 337(d)(2), empowering it to issue a general exclusion order when “no person 

appears to contest an investigation concerning violation of this section.” 

The Commission has noted that the criteria of section 337(d)(2), which are incorporated 

into section 337(g)(2), “do not differ significantly” from the factors in Certain Airless Paint 

Spray Pumps and Comuonents Thereof, Inv. 337-TA-90, USITC Pub. 1199,216 U.S.P.Q. 465 

(USITC 198 1) (Spray - Pumps) and Certain Neodymium-Iron-Boron Magnets, Magnet Alloys. and 

Articles Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-372, USITC Pub. 2694 (May 1996), Comm’n Op. at 

5. In Spray Pumps, - the Commission held that a complainant seeking a general exclusion order 

must show both (1) a widespread pattern of unauthorized use of its patented invention and (2) 

certain business conditions from which one might reasonably infer that foreign manufactures 

other than the respondents to the investigation may attempt to enter the U.S. market with 

infringing articles. Spray Pumps, 216 U.S.P.Q. at 473. The Commission stated that among the 

evidence which might be presented to prove a “widespread pattern of unauthorized use of the 

patented invention” would be: 

(1) a Commission determination of unauthorized importation into the 
United States of infringing articles by numerous foreign 
manufacturers; or 

(2) the pendency of foreign infringement suits based upon foreign 
patents which correspond to the domestic patent in issue; 

(3) other evidence which demonstrates a history of unauthorized use of 
the patented invention. 

- Id. 
The evidence which might be presented to prove the “business conditions” 
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referred to includes: 

(1) established demand for the patented product in the US. market and 
conditions of the world market; 

(2) the availability of marketing and distribution networks in the 
United States for potential foreign manufactures; 

(3) the cost to foreign entrepreneurs of building a facility capable of 
producing the patented article; 

(4) the number of foreign manufacturers whose facilities could be 
retooled to produce the patented articles; or 

(5) the cost to foreign manufacturers of retooling their facility to 
produce the patent articles. 

The Commission may issue a cease and desist order against “any person violating 

[Section 3371, or believed to be violating this section.” 19 U.S.C. 5 1337(f). A cease and desist 

order is warranted when there is a ‘commercially significant’ amount of infringing, imported 

product in the United States that could be sold so as to undercut the remedy provided by an 

exclusion order. A complainant bears the burden of proving that a respondent has a 

commercially significant inventory of the accused products in the United States. Certain 

Integrated ReDeaters, Switches, Transceivers, and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA- 

435, USITC Publication No. 3547, Comm’n Op. at 27 (October 2002). 

A. Exclusion Order 

Based on the evidence, should the Commission determine that there is a violation of 

section 337 as the administrative law judge has found, the administrative law judge recommends 

that a general exclusion order issue. 
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Referring to a preliminary matter, complainants, in the remedy phase of the investigation, 

offered testimony of Epson investigator Herb Seitz and Epson Portland employee Randall 

McEvers. However the active respondents challenged the credibility of the testimony of those 

witnesses. For example it is argued that the whole of Seitz’s statements should be disregarded 

because he and his colleagues cast themselves as potential U.S. distributors of Epson-compatible 

ink cartridges as part of their investigation of the market for Epson-compatible ink cartridges. 

During the course of their investigation for Epson, the Epson investigators identified 

themselves as representatives of a would-be distributor of ink cartridges in an effort to determine 

which foreign companies would be willing to ship their ink cartridges to distributors in the 

United States for resale. (Seitz, Tr. at 255: 16-256:7.) They attended the 2005 Recharger 

Magazine World Expo, made inquiries as to whether they could purchase Epson-compatible ink 

cartridges from certain manufacturers and distributors, and ultimately did purchase such ink 

cartridges. (Seitz, Tr. at 252:9-258: 15,265:4-269:7.) In investigating the market for 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges, the Epson investigators also attended trade shows including the 

2005 and 2006 Recharger Magazine World Expo shows held in Las Vegas, Nevada and the 2006 

Asia Expo in Shanghai, China. (Seitz, Tr. at 252:9-258:15,265:4-267:18.) To determine which 

companies would sell to U.S. distributors, the Epson investigators purchased Epson-compatible 

ink cartridges from many of the respondents in this investigation using the business name “K&R 

Supplies.” (Seitz, Tr. at 269: 1-3.) 

The administrative law judge finds that by presenting themselves as would-be 

distributors, the Epson investigators were able to reliably determine which foreign manufacturer 

and distributors would sell Epson-compatible ink cartridges to U.S. distributors. Moreover, after 
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observing the demeanor of each of Seitz and McEvers, when they testified on January 17,2007 at 

the hearing, the administrative law judge finds their testimony credible. 

In support of a general exclusion order the administrative law judge finds that there is a 

widespread pattern of unauthorized use of Epson’s patented inventions. Thus, the administrative 

law judge finds that eleven distinct respondents have manufactured and/or sold for importation 

into the U.S. infringing ink cartridges for use with Epson printers, &., Ninestar Zhuhai, Zhuhai 

Gree, Butterfly, Mipo, Ink Lab, InkTec, Artech, Master Ink, Tully, Ribbon Tree Macao and 

Wellink. (CFF III.B. 1-40,42-71 (undisputed).) At least fourteen respondents have imported 

and/or sold after importation infringing Epson-compatible cartridges: Ninestar US., Town Sky, 

Dataproducts, MMC, Glory South, Mipo America, AcuJet, Ribbon Tree USA, Apex, InkTec 

America, Inkjetwarehouse, Nectron, Gerald Chamales and Rhinotek. (CFF m.B. 1-40,42-80 

(undisputed).) In the course of this investigation, complainants have learned of hundreds of other 

companies that manufacture and distribute infringing Epson-compatible ink cartridges abroad 

and in the United States. (CFF X.H.3-31, CFF X.M.l-13 (undisputed).) As an indication of the 

scope of respondents’ unauthorized use of Epson’s patented inventions, in 2005 alone, 

respondents collectively sold in excess of 12.5 million Epson-compatible ink cartridges for over 

$15 million in revenue. (CFF X.A.l (undisputed).) 

The administrative law judge finds, as to respondent Ninestar Zhuhai, that Ninestar 

Zhuhai manufactures and exports to the United States at least several million units of such 

products each year, and that it has the capacity to produce much more. (CFF X.A.5-7, 13-16, 

19-20(undisputed).) The only summary sales information that Ninestar Zhuhai provided shows 

sales to US.  customers of 8,210,690 units of Epson-compatible ink cartridges between October 
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2005 and August 2006, for revenue of { 

Zhuhai also admitted that, in 2005, it imported approximately{ 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges with a value of approximately{ 

(undisputed).) 

}(CFF X.A. 19-20 (undisputed).) Ninestar 

} units of 

} (CFF X.A.10 

Ninestar Zhuhai has stated that it has the capacity to produce several million ink 

cartridges per month, and it has reported that it currently has over 3 thousand employees and a 

brand new 110,000 square meters facility. (CFF X.A.6, 8-9 (undsputed).) Ninestar Zhuhai also 

discusses on its website its significant global presence and capacity to distribute its “distribution 

and sales stages in Los Angeles, San Francisco [and] New York,” and its entry into “well known 

chain stores in America.” (CFF X.H.l (undisputed).) 

In response to complainants’ discovery requests seeking the identification of Ninestar 

Zhuhai’s customers, Ninestar Zhuhai identified over 100 companies that appear to be located 

throughout the world. (CFF X.H.3 (undisputed).) Ninestar Zhuhai also identified fourteen of 

those customers as being “involved” in importing into the United States the Epson-compatible 

ink cartridges that it manufactures. (CFF X.H.5 (undisputed).) Finally, Ninestar Zhuhai 

identified ten companies as its customers in the United States that purchase Epson-compatible 

cartridges from it on an F.O.B. basis. (CFF X.H.4 (undisputed).) 

Referring to Ninestar U.S., it has provided the following information concerning its 

annual sales of Epson-compatible ink cartridges in the U.S.: 

{ 
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(CFF X.A.27-3 1 (undisputed).) Ninestar U.S. identified approximately 530 customers, the 

majority of which are resellers. (CFF X.H.8-9 (undisputed).) 

As for Town Sky, it has provided the following information concerning its annual sales of 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges: 

1 

(CFF X.A.50-53 (undisputed).) Town Sky identified approximately 265 customers. As with 

Ninestar U.S., the majority of Town Sky’s customers are resellers. (CFF X.H.10-11 

(undisputed).) 

Referring to Dataproducts, Dataproducts, a subsidiary of Clover Holdings, Inc., has 

imported ink cartridges that it purchased directly from respondent Artech, or that it assembled in 

Mexico from shells and other components purchased from Artech. (CFF X.A.66-67,72 

(undisputed).) Dataproducts has imported such cartridges by truck from Mexico to its facility in 

Los Angeles County, California. (CFF X.I. 1 (undisputed).) In 2005, Dataproducts imported 

approximately{ 

or purchased from Artech. (CFF m.B.8 (undisputed).) 

}aftermarket ink cartridges for use with Epson printers that it manufactured 

During discovery, Dataproducts reported that between February 1,2005 and December 

3 1,2005, it sold after importation{ 

} (CFF X.A.66-70 

(undisputed).) Dataproducts recently stopped purchasing from Artech and has started buying ink 

cartridges from Ninestar Zhuhai. (CFF X.A.71 (undisputed).) 
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Dataproducts is affiliated with non-respondent Clover Technologies Group, LLC 

(Clover), which is also a wholly owned subsidiary of Clover Holdings, Inc., and is a major 

importer and seller after importation of ink cartridges and other printing supplies. (CFF 

X.A.72-83 (undisputed as to said sentence.) Clover purchases ink cartridges manufactured by 

Ninestar Zhuhai. (CFF X.A.78 (undisputed).) Clover’s sales of ink cartridges for use with Epson 

printers are as follows: 

{ 

1 

(CFF X.A.80-83 (undisputed).) 

Referring to Zhuhai Gree, Zhuhai Gree is another large Chinese manufacturer of printer 

consumables. (CFF X.A.84 (undisputed).) Zhuhai Gree is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhuhai 

Gree Group Corporation, a state-owned company that is among China’s 500 largest. (CFF 

X.A.86-87 (undisputed).) Zhuhai Gree began producing ink cartridges in 1998, including ink 

cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CFF X.A.90-91 (undisputed).) Since then, the 

manufacture and sale of compatible ink cartridges has become Zhuhai Gree’s most significant 

business line, and Epson-compatible ink cartridges have generated most of Zhuhai Gree’s 

revenues. (CFF X.A.95-96, CFF X.L.49 (undisputed).) 

Zhuhai Gree has 600 to 700 employees and currently has a monthly output of 1 million 

cartridges, with the capacity to produce more. (CFF X.A.89; CFF X.L.45-49 (undisputed).) 

Historically, over 50% of the ink cartridges it has produced have been Epson compatible ink 

cartridges. (CFF X.L.49 (undisputed).) Zhuhai Gree also reports of a worldwide sales network 
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consisting of “agents in America, Asia, Europe, Africa and Australia and all the big domestic 

cities.” (CFF X.H. 13 (undisputed).) 

In approximately 2000, Zhuhai Gree began producing and selling Epson-compatible ink 

cartridges for importation into the United States through a distributor called Glee Group 

(U.S.A.), Inc. (Glee Group USA), that was formed by Zhuhai Gree’s parent company, Zhuhai 

Gree Group Corporation. (CFF X.J.8-14 (undisputed).) After Glee Group USA was dissolved in 

2004, Zhuhai Gree entered into a sales agency agreement with Respondent MMC for the sale of 

ink cartridges in the United States. (CFF X.A.103-108, 117-122, CFF X.J.16-19 (undisputed).) 

Zhuhai Gree has also continued to sell Epson compatible ink cartridges for importation into the 

United States through another non-respondent company called Fast Ink. (CFF X.A.98, X.H. 14-21 

(undisputed) .) 

Zhuhai Gree reported making the following sales of infringing Epson compatible ink 

cartridges to its U.S. distributors for the period between April 2002 and February 2006: 

Sales to Glee Group USA 

April 2002 - July 2004: 377,683 units for $540,860.60 in revenue 

Sales to Fast Ink 

December 2003 - January 2006: 365,570 units for $330,347.04 in revenue 

Sales to MMC 

January 2005 - February 2006: 748,438 units for $572,589.71 in revenue 

(CFF X.A.97-99 (undisputed).) 

As for MMC, MMC is Zhuhai Gree’s agent in the United States for the sale of 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF X.A. 121-122 (undisputed).) MMC identified over 90 
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reseller customers to which it has sold infringing Epson compatible ink cartridges. (CFF 

X.H.22-24 (undisputed).) Those resellers, in turn, sell those products to other resellers or to end 

users. (CFF X.A. 128-130, CF’F X.H.22-24 (undisputed).) MMC has reported the following sales 

of Epson compatible ink cartridges since its inception in October 2004: 

October - December 2004: 40,129 units for $63,325 in revenue 
January - December 2005: 591,514 units for $788,479 in revenue 
January - February 2006: 166,347 units for $198,656 in revenue 

(CFF X. A. 13 1 - 133 (undisputed).) 

As for respondents who have been terminated from the investigation on the basis of 

consent orders, in Certain Rare-Earth Magnets and Magnetic Materials and Articles Containing 

Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-413, Publication 3307 (May 2000) (Magnets) in which this 

administrative law judge was the presiding judge and in which he recommended a general 

exclusion order which the Commission issued, the Commission in its opinion dated December 

10, 1999 stated: 

In formulating his recommendation for a remedy, the ALJ 
considered evidence regarding respondents who had been 
terminated from the investigation on the basis of consent orders, 
citing Magnets, Comm’n Op. at 21, fn. 18. See also 
Woodworking Machines, Inv. No. 337-TA-174, USITC Pub. 1979 
at 49 (1987) (Commission considered evidence regarding 
terminated respondents that had entered into consent orders in 
finding a pattern of widespread unauthorized use of the 
complainant’s patents and trademarks). In addition to 
Commission precedent, the ALJ noted that ¶6 of the consent orders 
signed by the terminated respondents in this investigation provides 
that : 

[the respondent] understands and acknowledges that 
with regard to information it provided in the course 
of discovery in the Investigation, including but not 
limited to documents, interrogatory responses, 
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transcripts of sworn deposition testimony, and 
sample magnets, Complainants may seek to 
introduce such information as evidence in the 
Investigation after [the respondent] has been 
terminated as a respondent. 

Notice Of A Commission Determination Not To Review An Initial 
Determination Terminating One Respondent On The Basis Of 
Consent Order; Issuance of Consent Order (February 1, 1999), and 
Notice Of A Commission Determination Not To Review Two 
Initial Determinations Terminating Four Respondents On The 
Basis Of Consent Orders; issuance Of Consent Orders (February 9, 
1999). 

The ALJ concluded there was a widespread pattern of unauthorized 
use of the patented invention. He found that each of former 
respondents AUG, CYNNY, Houghes, IMI, and H.T.I.E. imported, 
sold for importation, or sold after importation articles that infringe 
the patents in issue. ID at 152; FF 241,264. Moreover, each of 
respondents ARE, NEOCO, High End, Harvard, Beijing Jing Ma, 
Xin Huan, and Multi-Trend imported, sold for importation, or sold 
after importation articles that infringe the patents in issue. Finally, 
he found that there was evidence that certain non-parties, e., 
GEC and A N A ,  had imported infringing magnets. ID at 152; FF 
270-27 1. 

Referring to respondents who have been terminated on the basis of consent orders in this 

investigation, the administrative law judge finds that Ink Lab is among the largest Hong Kong 

manufacturers of ink cartridges, supplying importers and resellers with infringing 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF X.A. 134-139 (undisputed).) Ink Lab’s customers 

include: { 

} Also many of the ink 

cartridges sold by Ink Lab were manufactured by{ 

} Ink Lab reported the following 
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information concerning its importation and sales of Epson-compatible ink cartridges that it 

manufactured: 

{ 

1 

{ 1 

The administrative law judge finds that respondent Artech which was terminated via a 

consent order to be among the largest European manufacturers of ink cartridges. (CFF 

X.A. 143-149 (undisputed).) It has supplied companies along various points of the distribution 

chain, including{ } with infringing 

ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CFF X.A.150 (undisputed).) In its Commission rule 

210.13(b) statement, Artech reported 2005 imports of approximately{ 

}Later, Artech reported annual 

importation into the United States and sales of Epson-compatible ink cartridges that it 

manufactured as follows: 

{ 

1 

{ } Master Ink, which was terminated via a consent order, is a 

Chinese manufacturer of ink cartridges with its headquarters in Hong Kong and with factories in 

Shenzhen and Shanghai, China. (CFF III.B.26, CFF X.A.151 (undisputed).) Master Ink has sold 

for importation infringing Epson-compatible ink cartridges to{ 1 among 

others. (CFF X.A.154 (undisputed).) Master Ink estimates that from 2001 to 2006, it sold for 
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importation and/or imported{ 

1 

Referring to InkTec and InkTec America, terminated via a consent order, InkTec 

manufactures in Korea its own infringing ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CFF 

X.A. 155 (undisputed).) It also purchases infringing ink cartridges from{ 

}InkTec has sold its own and{ }ink cartridges to its U.S. 

affiliate, InkTec America. (CFF X.A. 160-163 (undisputed).) InkTec America has distributed 

those cartridges to a number of resellers and retailers in the distribution chain. (CFF X.A.165 

(undisputed).) InkTec America reported the following information concerning its importation 

and sales of Epson-compatible ink cartridges that it purchased from InkTec or Zhuhai Gree: 

{ 

1 

{ } In addition to the cartridges that it provided to InkTec 

America, InkTec reported the following sales in the United States of Epson-compatible ink 

cartridges that it or{ } manufactured: 

{ 

1 

{ 

Texas-based importer and seller after importation of ink cartridges. (CFF I.B.83 (undisputed).) 

Nectron has purchased most of its infringing Epson-compatible ink cartridges from{ 

} Nectron, terminated via a consent order is a 

} but also has purchased from{ 
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} Nectron has 

} customers, most of which are retailers andor resellers. (CFF X.A.184 identified over{ 

(undisputed).) Nectron reported the following information concerning its importation and sales 

in the United States of Epson-compatible ink cartridges, excluding Nectron’s purchases from 

{ 

} Inkjetwarehouse, terminated via a consent order, is an 

internet-based importer and seller after importation with its headquarters in Connecticut. (CFF 

X.A. 187 (undisputed).) Inkjetwarehouse principally purchased its infringing Epson-compatible 

ink cartridges from{ 

} Inkjetwarehouse has identified hundreds of customers, most of which are 

resellers. (CFF X.A. 197 (undisputed).) Inkjetwarehouse reported the following information 

concerning its importation and sales after importation of Epson-compatible ink cartridges in the 

United States: 

{ 

} Apex, which was terminated via a consent order, imports and 

sells after importation Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF X.A.201 (undisputed).) Apex is 

an affiliate of Ribbon Tree USA, a defaulting respondent. (CFF I.B.97-106 (undisputed).) Apex 
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and Ribbon Tree USA purchase cartridges manufactured by{ 

} Apex reported the following revenue earned from sales after 

importation of Epson-compatible ink cartridges that it purchased from Wellink or Ribbon Tree 

Macao: 

{ 

1 

(CFF X.A.202-205 (undisputed).) Gerald Chamales and its successor-in-interest, Rhinotek, 

terminated via a consent order, are companies located in Los Angeles County, California that 

import and sell after importation Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF I.B.85-9 1 (undisputed).) 

Gerald Chamales and Rhinotek have purchased ink cartridges for use with Epson printers from 

{ 1 

Their customers include{ 

(undisputed).) Between 2004 and 2006, Gerald Chamales imported{ 

aftermarket ink cartridges for use with Epson printers and sold such cartridges after importation 

for{ }In 2006, Rhinotek 

} among other retailers and resellers. (CFF X.A.214 

} infringing 

imported { 

by Shanghai Angel Printer Supplies Co. Ltd., and sold such cartridges after importation for 

}infringing aftermarket ink cartridges for use with Epson printers manufactured 

{ 1 110 

'lo Respondents that have settled have admitted infringement as to the claims asserted 
against them. &, for example, where respondents Artech, Ink Lab, Ink Tec, Gerald 
ChamalesRhinotek, Inkjetwarehouse, and Nectron, have admitted in written stipulations to 
infringement of claim 7 of the '957 patent; claims 18,81,93, 149, and 164 of the '439 patent; 
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As for respondents Glory South, Butterfly, AcuJet, Mipo, Mipo America, Tully, Wellink 

and Ribbon Tree Macao each have been found in default. The staff has argued that because the 

‘472 patent is not being asserted against the active respondents, only limited exclusion orders 

directed to the defaulting respondents should issue because no evidence was offered to show that 

any of the non-active respondents practice the asserted method claims of the ‘472 patent. (SBr at 

63, 118-19.) In addition the staff argued that complainants “do not assert it [claim 165 of the 

‘439 patent] against the active respondents” and evidence was not presented to show that any of 

the “non-active respondents” actually infringe claim 165. (SBr at 59.) While the staff‘s position 

is unclear with respect to the asserted claims of the ‘397 patent, see Section VIII.B, supra, in its 

response to complainants’ proposed findings it did state for example that complainants’ evidence 

as to infringement of claim 45 of said patent is “not supported by evidence cited; no competent 

testimony offered.” See Section VIII. B, supra. 

Commission rule 210.16(~)(2) provides: 

In any motion requesting the entry of default or the termination of 
the investigation with respect to the last remaining respondent in 
the investigation, the complainant shall declare whether it is 
seeking a general exclusion order. The Commission may issue a 
general exclusion order pursuant to section 337(g)(2) of the Tariff 
Act of 1930, regardless of the source or importer of the articles 
concerned, provided that a violation of section 337 of the Tariff 
Act of 1930 is established by substantial, reliable, and probative 
evidence, and only after considering the aforementioned public 
interest factors and the requirement of 0 210.50(c). 

claims 83 and 84 of the ‘377 patent; and claims 19 and 20 of the ‘148 patent. (CFF VI.B.77-89, 

VI.H.69-8 1, CFF VI.I.39-5 1, CFF VI.J.62-74, CFF VI.K.40-52 (undisputed).) 
CFF VI.C.67-79, CFF VI.D.52-64, CFF VI.E.42-54, CFF VI.F.52-64, CFF VI.G.44-56; CFF 
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However, Commission rule 210.17 does allow the administrative law judge to draw adverse 

inferences and to issue findings of fact therefrom. In this investigation, defaulting respondents 

Tully, Wellink and Ribbon Tree filed a “Notice Of Election To Default” which the administrative 

law judge treated as Motion No. 565-34 (see Order No. 16 which issued on August 23,2006). 

Complainants in response argued that the administrative law judge should make certain adverse 

inferences. Said respondents did not respond to Order No. 16. Thus, the administrative law 

judge draws adverse inference and makes findings of fact therefrom that they have admitted to 

infringement of the asserted claims 29,31,34 and 38 of the ‘472 patent and asserted as well as 

claim 165 of the ‘439 patent against them as set forth in the complaint and amended complaint 

which they received. Order No. 9 ordered each of respondents Glory South, Butterfly, Mipo and 

AcuJet to show cause why each should not be found in default. Said respondents did not respond 

to Order No. 9 and hence Order No. 12 found them in default. As with respondents Tully, 

Wellink and Ribbon Tree, the administrative law judge draws adverse inferences and makes 

findings of fact therefrom that respondents Glory South, Butterfly, Mipo and AcuJet have 

admitted to infringement of the asserted claims 29,31,34 and 38 of the ‘472 patent as well as 

asserted claim 165 of the ‘439 patent and asserted claims 21,45,53 and 54 of the ‘397 patent set 

forth in the complaint and the amended complaint which they received. The administrative law 

judge finds that his findings with respect to the defaulting respondents in this investigation is 

consistent with what occurred and what he recommended in Marnets. In that investigation, his 

Order No. 56, which issued on June 20, 1999, was an initial determination granting 

complainants’ Motion No. 413-47 to the extent that each of respondents A.R.E., Jing Ma and Xin 

Huan were found in default, pursuant to Commission rule 210.16 and hence held that each has 
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waived its right to appear, to be served with documents, and to contest the allegations at issue in 

this investigation. On August 6, the Commission determinated not to review Order No. 56. 

(Publication 3307, ID at 3-4.) Order No. 60, which issued on August 26, 1999 was an initial 

determination granting complainants' Motion No. 413-47 to the extent that respondent Multi- 

Trend was found in default, pursuant to Commission rule 210.16, and hence held that Multi- 

Trend had waived its right to appear, to be served with documents, and to contest the allegations 

at issue in this investigation. (Id. ID at 4.) There was also an active respondent NEOCO in that 

investigation. This administrative law judge in Magnets after a review of the record found that a 

violation of 337 had occurred"' and recommended the issuance of cease and desist orders and 

o& a general exclusion order. (Id.) On December 9,1999, the Commission agreed with this 

administrative law judge that a general exclusion order was necessary and issued a general 

exclusion order. (Id) 

Non-respondent companies that have manufactured and sold for importation ink 

cartridges for use with Epson printers include{ 

} Non-respondent domestic distributors in the business of 

importing and selling after importation ink cartridges for use with Epson printers include{ 

In addition, there are hundreds of "reseller" customers in the business of distributing in the 

'11 The violation involved infringement of several claims of a plurality of patents 
directed to rare earth alloys, a matter of some complexity. (Id ID at 173-355.) 
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United States Respondents’ infringing Epson-compatible cartridges. (CFF X.A. 128-129, 184, 

197,206; CFF X.H.3, 8-1 1, CFF X.J.27-28 (undisputed).) 

The administrative law judge further finds a documented history of unauthorized foreign 

use by other non-respondent companies. For example, in 1995 and 1997, Seiko Epson and 

Epson America filed suit in California federal court against Nu-kote International, Inc. and 

Pelikan Produktions AG, companies that manufacture and distribute worldwide Nukote and 

Pelikan brand printer consumables, for infringement of the ‘377, ‘148, ‘472 and ‘401 patents. 

(CFF X.B.l-2 (undisputed).) The litigation concluded in favor of Epson with the entry of a 

permanent injunction. (CFF X.B.3 (undisputed).) 

Complainants also brought suit beginning in 2001 against Multi-Union Trading 

Company, Ltd., Dynamic Print USA, Inc., Print-Rite Holdings, Ltd., and Print-Rite Management 

Services Company in the District Court of Oregon, asserting infringement of the ‘957, ‘439, 

‘377, ‘148, ‘472, ‘401, ‘917 and ‘902 patents. (CFF X.B.4-5 (undisputed).) Multi-Union is a 

Hong Kong-based distributor of Print-Rite products, including Epson-compatible ink cartridges. 

(CFF X.B.6 (undisputed).) After summary judgment was granted in favor of Epson on the issue 

of infringement, the litigation was resolved in June 2005 with the entry of stipulated permanent 

injunctions. (CFF X.B.7-8 (undisputed).) 

Based on the foregoing the administrative law judge finds that respondents and many 

non-respondent companies have engaged in widespread unauthorized uses of Epson’s patented 

ink cartridges, resulting in millions of dollars in revenue for each of the past several years. 

The administrative law judge finds further that there are certain business conditions that 

would enable respondents to circumvent a limited exclusion order. Thus, respondent Ninestar 
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Zhuhai manufactures Epson-compatible ink cartridges and exports them into the United States 

from its factories in Zhuhai, China. (CFF X.A.3-5, 19,20 (undisputed).) Ninestar Zhuhai 

distributes Epson-compatible ink cartridges under the brand names G&G, OA100, MyInk and 

Print Aid. (CFF X.A.17 (undisputed).) The current officers and directors of Ninestar Zhuhai are 

Rusong Lu, Yan Wei and Wang Dong Ying (who is also the former General Manager of Zhuhai 

Gree). (CFF X.C.l, 4-7,9 (undisputed).) Ninestar Zhuhai is owned by Ninestar Technology Co., 

Ltd., of Hong Kong (Ninestar Tech. Hong Kong). (CFF X.C.33 (undisputed).) Ninestar Tech. 

Hong Kong is, in turn, owned by Apex Leader Limited, a British Virgin Islands investment 

company, and Pearl Business Connect, a German company. (CFF X.C.3 1,34 (undisputed).) 

Apex Leader Limited, which was established in 2004, is owned by{ 

} and others. (CFF X.C.24-30 (undisputed).) Respondent Ninestar U.S. 

has locations in Montclair, California and South Plainfield, New Jersey. (CFF X.A.21,23,24 

(undisputed).) Ninestar U.S. distributes in the United States Epson-compatible ink cartridges 

manufactured by Ninestar Zhuhai under the brand names G&G and MyInk. (CFF X.A.25,26 

(undisputed).) Wang Dong Ying and Rusong Lu are the directors of Ninestar U.S., William Dai 

is the Manager, and Yiding Yu is the Secretary and Chief Financial Officer. (CFF X.C.2, 8, 

11-12, 14-15 (undisputed).) Ninestar U.S. is wholly owned by Ninestar Zhuhai. (CFF X.A.22 

(undisputed).) Thus, as with Ninestar Zhuhai, the ultimate parent of Ninestar U.S. is Apex 

Leader Limited. (CFF X.C.24 (undisputed).) 

Respondent Town Sky, located in South San Francisco, California, also distributes in the 

United States Epson-compatible ink cartridges manufactured by Ninestar Zhuhai. (CFF 

X.A.45-49 (undisputed).) Town Sky distributes those cartridges primarily under the OAlOO and 
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Print Aid brand names. (CFF X.A.47 (undisputed).) Town Sky’s officers and directors are 

Rusong Lu and Yan Wei. (CFF X.C.3, 10 (undisputed).) Town Sky is wholly owned by Ninestar 

Zhuhai, and its ultimate parent is Apex Leader Limited. (CFF X.A.44, CFF X.C.24 

(undisputed).) In addition, the principals of the Ninestar Respondents, v&{ 

}are affiliated with non-respondent companies 

that the active respondents have used to manufacture and distribute their infringing cartridges. 

Moreover, the active respondents have used several non-respondent affiliated companies 

to export to the United States Ninestar Zhuhai’s ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CFF 

X.C.83,94, 11 1 (undisputed).) Among them, Ninestar Zhuhai has sold its Epson-compatible ink 

cartridges to at least four different foreign companies, viz. Ferri Limited, Broadway Circuit, Ltd., 

and Giant Will Hong Kong, which each, in turn, have re-sold Ninestar Zhuhai’s products to 

Ninestar U.S. and/or to Town Sky, or to other Ninestar affiliates, either directly or through 

further “straw man” intermediary companies (Ferri Limited, Broadway Circuit, Ltd., Speed 

Leader, Ltd., and Giant Will Hong Kong are collectively referred to herein as the “Ninestar 

Foreign Intermediaries”). (CFF X.C.82-84,87-88,90-92,93-96, 101, 103, 11 1 (undisputed).) 

Each of the Ninestar foreign intermediaries is related to one or more active respondents in 

the sense that they at least share common principals and have certain relationships (CFF X.C.8 1, 

84-85, 87-88,90-92,95-99, 102-105, 122-123 (undisputed).) For example, Ferri Limited is 

owned in part by{ 

of each of the active respondents), the former General Manager of Ninestar Zhuhai, and the 

Secretary and CFO of Ninestar U.S. (CFF X.C.11,24,27-29,90 (undisputed).) { 

has been a director of Broadway Circuit and Giant Will Hong Kong. (CFF X.C.98, 122 

} who also is an owner of Apex Leader Limited (the ultimate parent 

}also 
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(undisputed).) Broadway Circuit maintains an address at the same British Virgin Islands location 

as Apex Leader Limited. (CFF X.C.97 (undisputed).) Wang Dong Ying, the General Manager of 

Ninestar Zhuhai { 

Limited. (CFF X.C.91 (undisputed).) Ferri Limited, is located at the same address as Ninestar 

Tech. Hong Kong, that owns Ninestar Zhuhai. (CFF X.C.89 (undisputed).) { 

} serves as the financial advisor to Ferri 

} (CFF X.C.104, 105 (undisputed) as to 

preceding sentence.) As such, the Ninestar foreign intermediaries are connected with the active 

respondents through common principals and locations. The active respondents also have used, 

and could continue to use if necessary, non-respondents as the importers of record of their ink 

cartridges for use with Epson printers. Most notably, prior to its recent dissolution, Giant Will 

(USA), Inc. (Giant Will USA) purchased Epson-compatible ink cartridges manufactured by 

Ninestar Zhuhai and resold them to Ninestar U.S. and Town Sky. (CFF X.C.106-116 

(undisputed).) 

In addition, MyInk Technologies, Inc., located in Zhuhai, China (MyInk Zhuhai), a 

non-respondent company that shares the same ultimate parent company as Ninestar Zhuhai and 

common past and/or present principals, operates a factory in the same industrial area as Ninestar 

Zhuhai’s factory. (CFF X.C.57-72 (undisputed).) MyInk Zhuhai manufactures Epson-compatible 

ink cartridges that it has sold to Ninestar Zhuhai and Ninestar U.S. (CFF X.C.59,62 

(undisputed).) MyInk Zhuhai’s current production capacity is 1 million cartridges per month, 

and it maintains more than 20 production lines (almost as many as Ninestar Zhuhai uses to 

manufacture its Epson-compatible ink cartridges). (CFF X.C. 14,61 (undisputed).) The 

principals of the Ninestar respondents have further invested in and operated other ink cartridge 
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manufacturing plants. For example, Wang Dong Ying, the former General Manager of Zhuhai 

Gree and currently the General Manager of Ninestar Zhuhai and an owner of Apex Leader 

Limited, was previously an owner and director of Good Rainbow Hong Kong. (CFF X.C.73-80 

(undisputed).) Good Rainbow Hong Kong has invested in ink cartridge manufacturing 

companies including Ninestar Zhuhai and Good Rainbow Zhong Shan, both of which have 

manufactured Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF X.C.76-79 (undisputed).) In addition, 

although Dataproducts claims to be phasing itself out of the business of selling imported ink 

cartridges for use with Epson printers, its sister company, Clover, remains in the market, and may 

be taking over Dataproducts’ former business operations. (CFF X.D. 1-9 (undisputed).) Thus, the 

principals of Dataproducts and Clover could continue their unauthorized uses of Epson’s 

patented inventions even if a limited exclusion order were to prohibit Dataproducts from 

engaging in such conduct. 

The administrative law judge finds that other respondents also could evade a limited 

exclusion order by shipping unmarked, generic or private label products that bear no markings 

that identify their origin. Exhibit CPX-1173, which is a box that contained an Epson-compatible 

ink cartridge sold for importation by Tully to Inkjetwarehouse, is an example of such generic 

packaging, from which it is impossible to determine the source of the product without inside 

knowledge of manufacturer codes (CFF X.E. 10, 15 (undisputed).) Dataproducts sells 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges in generic packaging from which consumers cannot identify the 

manufacturer. (CFF X.E. 12 (undisputed).) Zhuhai Gree also has provided evidence showing that 

a significant portion of its sales of Epson-compatible ink cartridges are of generic brands. (CFF 

X.E.8-9 (undisputed).) Zhuhai Gree also has a private label service, whereby it manufactures ink 

354 



cartridges bearing the customer’s identifying information, not its own. (CFF X.D.12-18 

(undisputed).) Such cartridges, even when sold by Zhuhai Gree to a foreign private label 

customer, have been imported into the United States by that private label customer, with no 

indication that the products emanated from Zhuhai Gree. (CFF X.D. 12-1 8 (undisputed).) Indeed, 

Zhuhai Gree’s corporate representative testified at his deposition that it is of no concern to 

Zhuhai Gree “how [its customers] sell their goods and where they sell [them] to.” (CFF X.E.15 

(undisputed).) Finally, generic cartridges that do not indicate the manufacturer make up{ 

1 

Based on the foregoing, the administrative law judge finds that respondents, other than 

the active respondents, have the ability to take advantage of business conditions that would allow 

them to evade a limited exclusion order. 

In addition, the administrative law judge finds that the demand for ink cartridges for use 

with Epson printers is strong. Epson’s own sales in fiscal year 2006 of ink cartridges covered by 

the asserted patents were{ 

respondents’ strong sales of Epson-compatible ink cartridges, respondents identified over $1 5 

million in sales to unaffiliated customers for 2005, a total that does not include the sales 

information of respondents who defaulted or otherwise did not provide complete information. 

(CFF X.A.l (undisputed).) Moreover, most respondents have admitted that the United States is a 

large market for ink cartridges and is significant to their operations. (CFF X.F.18-28 

(undisputed) .) 

} As an example of 

In addition to high levels of sales and revenue, distributors of Epson-compatible ink 

cartridges in the United States enjoy strong profit margins. For example, Dataproducts earned 

355 



gross margins of $449,368 on its $758,103 of revenues received from the sale of 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges in the United States, thereby achieving 59.28% gross margins. 

(CFF X.F.29 (undisputed).) Over a two year period, Gerald Chamales earned revenues of 

{ 

1 

The administrative law judge further finds that potential foreign manufacturers would 

have easy access to existing marketing and distribution networks in the United States for 

infringing cartridges. Respondents have thousands of U.S. customers, most of which are 

resellers, including office supply stores, electronics stores, big box superstores and internet 

website operators. (CFF X.H. 1-3 1 (undisputed).) Those resellers have an established demand for 

Epson-compatible cartridges and would readily move to a new supplier if necessary. (CFF 

X.A.2 15 (undisputed).) Moreover, most of those resellers would be easily identifiable to 

potential foreign manufacturers through a simple search of the Internet or a visit to a trade show. 

(CFF X.A.216, CFF X.G.l,7, 11,21-22 (undisputed).) The administrative law judge finds that 

respondents have demonstrated that such domestic affiliates can be established with ease. For 

example, Ninestar Zhuhai uses two wholly owned subsidiaries to distribute its products in the 
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United States, viz. Ninestar U.S. and Town Sky, and also has used other domestic affiliates in its 

distribution chain, some of which have had overlapping office spaces and personnel. (CFF 

X.A.22,25,44,46; CFF X.C.52-56, 110-1 11, 119, 128; CFF X.J.3 (undisputed).) Similarly, 

Zhuhai Gree’s parent company set up Glee Group USA to distribute Zhuhai Gree’s products. 

(CFF X.J.4-17 (undisputed).) Other foreign manufacturers have invested in existing, unrelated 

companies to secure channels for distributing their products, as{ 

} Distributors 

contract with any number of readily available companies for handling the overseas shipping, 

clearing customs, and delivering products to their customers, including DHL and U P S .  (CFF 

X.H.25, CFF X.K.1-7 (undisputed).) 

In addition the administrative law judge finds that marketing networks also are readily 

available to potential foreign manufacturers. Most foreign manufacturers and their domestic 

distributors, including respondents, rely primarily on a few easily-accessible sources to publicize 

their products, including promoting their products through the Internet and operating websites, 

attending trade shows, and advertising in industry publications. (CFF X.G. 1-27 (undisputed).) 

Accordingly, the availability of existing marketing and distribution networks is another business 

condition that could attract potential foreign manufacturers to enter the market. The costs of 

maintaining and operating a factory capable of producing ink cartridges compatible with Epson 

printers are found to be relatively small, especially considering the substantial profits that may be 

earned from sales of such products. (CFF X.F.29-43, CFF X.L.7-69 (undisputed).) In fact, a 

potential foreign manufacturer need not even own its manufacturing facility, as evidenced by 

Ninestar Zhuhai, which manufactures its Epson-compatible ink cartridges from a rented facility. 
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(CFF X.A.9 (undisputed).) Rent for facilities is low in China, particularly in the manufacturing 

hub of Zhuhai. (CFF X.A.66 (undisputed).) 

The costs of the necessary manufacturing equipment are also low. Zhuhai-Cree disclosed 

that the costs incurred to acquire the equipment for the three production lines it uses to produce 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges totaled 990,216 RMB, or approximately $127,000 using current 

exchange rates. (CFF X.L.64 (undisputed).) Dataproducts also reported low capital costs, having 

spent only{ 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF X.L.67 (undisputed).) Among Dataproducts’ main 

equipment costs, a filling machine cost{ 

} to acquire the equipment and build the facilities used in its assembly of 

} (CFF X.L.67 (undisputed).) 

The component parts needed to make ink cartridges are found to be inexpensive. Epson 

pays between { 

packaging. (CFF X.L.8-21 (undisputed).) Foreign manufacturers can pay anywhere from 25% to 

75% less on the principal components including the ink, the plastic resin and the semiconductor 

chip by using lower quality parts or using alternative procurement methods. (CFF X.L.23 

(undisputed).) Asian manufacturers also have access to the cheapest possible prices for materials 

such as ink and plastic resin. (CFF X.L.22 (undisputed).) 

} for the components of its ink cartridges, including retail 

In addition foreign labor is inexpensive. Epson Portland’s Chinese and Mexican sister 

companies pay approximately{ 

} Dataproducts’ labor costs to operate its production lines at its 

facility in Mexico are only{ } (CFF X.L.54-55 (undisputed).) Zhuhai Gree pays 
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considerably less; the assembly workers who run its production lines are paid only 1,334 RMB 

per month, or approximately $170 USD. (CFF X.L.51 (undisputed).) As a result, Zhuhai Gree’s 

labor costs are approximately 2 cents per ink cartridge. (CFF X.L.47-52 (undisputed).) 

The administrative law judge further finds that there are as many as 200 ink cartridge 

manufacturers in China alone, many of which are already in the business of manufacturing 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges and selling them for importation. (CFF X.M.3, 8, 10-13, 19,23, 

27,31,35,39,43,45,47,49,65,67,69,71,73 (undisputed).) Non-respondent foreign 

manufacturers such as ST Sanyo, Print-Ritemulti-Union, Skyhorse, U-Tec, Nukote, KMP, Afex, 

Legacy, Kores, DCI, Pelikan, Color Lab, Zhongshan Yuzhou Printer Accessories Co., Ltd., and 

countless others currently manufacture Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF X.M. 1-79 

(undisputed).) Virtually all ink cartridge manufacturers have unused production capacity. (CFF 

X.M. 16-79 (undisputed).) 

Companies that manufacture non-Epson compatible ink cartridges or even other 

consumable products face low barriers to retool their existing facilities to manufacture Epson’s 

patented cartridges. For example, Ninestar Zhuhai’s General Manager, Wang Dong Ying, 

testified that Ninestar Zhuhai, while it has “its own technology, can produce new models of 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges within one month after Epson releases the original cartridge. 

(CFF X.N. 1 (undisputed).) Wang added that “90% of [different models of inkjet cartridges] are 

the same . . . [s]o that’s why we can make compatible cartridges so quickly.” (CFF X.N.2 

(undisputed).) Zhuhai-Gree manufactures Epson cartridges on three production lines, but, when 

necessary, a fourth production line can be switched over from the production of other ink 

cartridges to make Epson compatible cartridges. (CFF X.L.45-49 (undisputed).) 
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Based on the foregoing the administrative law judge, in support of his recommendation 

for a general exclusion order, finds that complainants have established a “widespread pattern of 

unauthorized use” of complainants’ patented inventions and “certain business conditions from 

which one might reasonably infer that foreign manufacturers other than the respondents to the 

investigation may attempt to enter the U.S. market with infringing articles.” 

B. Cease and Desist Orders 

As of March 3 1,2006, Ninestar U.S. had at least{ } units of Epson-compatible 

ink cartridges in its inventory. (CFFXI.A.l(undisputed).) As of April 1-4,2006, Town Sky had 

at least{ 

XI.A.2(undisputed).). Town Sky tries to maintain an inventory of at least{ 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF XI.A.2(undisputed).) MMC’s total inventory of all 

models of Epson-compatible ink cartridges as of August 10,2006 was 94,673 units. (CX-874C 

MMC’s fourth supplemental response to interrogatory no. 122th) at 2.) (CFF XI.A.4 

(undisputed).) Dataproducts’ most recent inventory information disclosed in this Investigation 

shows an inventory of{ } Epson-compatible ink cartridges. 

} units of Epson-compatible ink cartridges in its inventory. (CFF 

} units of 

AcuJet lists in its catalog 50 models of Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF XI. A.6 

(undisputed).) AcuJet was able to ship 40 Epson-compatible ink cartridges to Epson’s 

investigators on August 16,2005, the same day the order was placed. (CFF XI.A.7 (undisputed).) 

AcuJet was able to ship 54 Epson-compatible ink cartridges to Epson’s investigators on 

November 22,2005, the same day the order was placed. (CFF XI.A.8 (undisputed).) AcuJet’s 

website says that “we are well equipped to handle and fill any orders whether they are large or 

small.” (CFF XI.A.9 (undisputed).) 
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In e-mail correspondence with Epson’s investigators who were posing as resellers of ink 

cartridges, Glory South’s affiliate Butterfly wrote that “We can be your reliable supplier as we 

have stock in our warehouse in Buena Park,” and “We are able to offer you competitive price and 

excellent quality of goods, in mass production. Our sales office/warehouse in Los Angeles can 

offer fast customer services in your local time zone.” (CFF XI.A.10 (undisputed).) Glory South 

was able to fill an order placed by Epson’s investigators for 42 Epson-compatible ink cartridges 

on September 6,2005. (CFF XI.A.l l(undisputed).) Glory South was able to fill an order placed 

by Epson’s investigators for 23 Epson-compatible ink cartridges on November 21,2005. (CFF 

XI.A.13 (undisputed).) Glory South was able to fill an order placed by Epson’s investigators for 

8 Epson-compatible ink cartridges on February 2,2006. (CFF X.A. 14 (undisputed).) Mipo 

America was able to fill an order placed by Epson’s investigators for 40 Epson-compatible ink 

cartridges on September 6,2006. (CFF XI.A.15 (undisputed).) Mipo America was able to fill an 

order placed by Epson’s investigators for 30 Epson-compatible ink cartridges on March 10,2006. 

With respect to internet activity, Ninestar Zhuhai, Ninestar U.S. and Town Sky have 

acknowledged that 100% of their sales involve internet communications. (CFF X.B. 1 

(undisputed).) Ninestar Zhuhai and Ninestar U.S. share an e-commerce website, 

www.ggimage.com, that includes contact information for Ninestar U.S. Said website sets forth 

information about all Ninestar’s Epson-compatible ink cartridges. (CFF XI.B.2 (undisputed).) 

Said website also contains information about newly released Epson-compatible ink cartridges, 

and urges customers to “be the first to place your order.” (CFF XI. B.3 (undisputed).) Town Sky 

has an e-commerce website, www.town-sky.com, that sets forth information about Town Sky’s 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges it sells after importation into the United States and enables 
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customers to contact Town Sky’s sales department via e-mail. (CX-1145 at TS000485-501.) 

Dataproducts has an e-commerce website, www.dataproducts.com, that sets forth information 

about Dataproducts’ Epson-compatible ink cartridges it sells after importation into the United 

States, including the list price of such ink cartridges. (CFF XI.B.6 (undisputed).) Dataproducts 

acknowledges that it promotes its Epson-compatible ink cartridges through its e-commerce 

website, and that its website “contains information from which a customer may cross-reference 

the Dataproducts brand compatible part number with the corresponding Epson printer and Epson 

cartridge number.” (CFF XI.B.7 (undisputed).) 

The MMC respondents share an e-commerce website, www.mmcinkjet.com, that sets 

forth information about MMC’s Epson-compatible ink cartridges it sells after importation into 

the United States and permits customers to “view” and “order” such ink cartridges. (CFF XI.B.8 

(undisputed).) MMC a b t s  that it contacts customers through e-mail. (CFF XI B.9 

(undisputed).) MMC acknowledged that it has sold ink cartridges via the internet and e-mail, but 

“was unable to provide its sales for each model and/or SKU of each Accused Product made via 

Internet and/or electronic mail.” (CFF X.B. 10 (undisputed).) Epson’s investigators purchased 

60 Epson-compatible ink cartridges from MMC with an internet order placed October 4,2005. 

(CFF XI.B. 11 (undisputed).) AcuJet has an e-commerce website, www.AcuJet.net, that accepts 

orders from individuals and provides order confirmations. (CFF XI.B. 12 (undisputed).) AcuJet 

has an e-commerce website, www.AcuJetusa.com, that sells ink cartridges to distributors and 

resellers. (CFF X.B. 13 (undisputed).) Glory South’s affiliate, Butterfly, has an e-commerce 

website, www.butterflyimage.com, that sets forth information about Butterfly’s and Glory 

South’s Epson-compatible ink cartridges being sold after importation into the United States. 
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(CFF XI. B. 14 (undisputed).) Epson’s investigators purchased 73 ink cartridges from Glory 

South between September 2005 and February 2006 exclusively using internet communications. 

(CFF XI. B. 15 (undisputed).) 

Respondents Mipo and Mipo America have an e-commerce website, www.mipoltd.com, 

that sets forth information about Mipo and Mipo America’s Epson-compatible ink cartridges 

being sold after importation into the United States. (CFF XI.B.16 (undisputed).) Epson’s 

investigators purchased 40 ink cartridges from Mipo America on September 6,2005, exclusively 

using internet communications. (CFF XI. B. 17(undisputed).) 

Based on the foregoing, the administrative law judge recommends the issuance of cease 

and desist orders against each of domestic respondents Ninestar U.S., Town Sky, Dataproducts 

and MMC as well as defaulting respondents Glory South, AcuJet and Mipo American. Also 

such cease and desist orders should encompass their Internet activities. Hardware Logic 

Emulation Systems and ComDonents Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-383, Comm’n Op. on Remedy, 

the Public Interest and Bonding, at 20 (Apr. 1, 1998) (Commission entered cease and desist 

orders against electronic transmissions related to infringing products). 

XII. Bond 

During the Presidential review period, imported articles otherwise subject to a remedial 

order are entitled to conditional entry under bond, pursuant to section 337(j)(3). 19 U.S.C. 0 

1337(j)(3). The amount of the bond is specified by the Commission and must be an amount 

sufficient to protect the complainant from any injury. Id. 19 C.F.R. 0 210.50(a)(3). 

Complainants argued that as they have not licensed their patents using a royalty rate, it is 

appropriate to use the price differential formula to calculate the appropriate bond; that in its 2006 
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fiscal year (April 1,2005 to March 31,2006), complainant Epson America, Inc. sold{ 

Regarding imported value of accused products complainants proposed that the 

Commission set a single bond rate to apply to each of the active respondents and the MMC 

respondents and each of their affiliates or in the alternative, separate bond rates for each 

respondent. It is argued that Ninestar Zhuhai and Zhuhai Gree did not provide information from 

which their sales to unaffiliated customers can be discerned for any specific period of time, and 

therefore complainants proposed calculating respondents’ average sale price based on the 

combined sales of Ninestar U.S., Town Sky, Dataproducts and MMC; and that in 2005, the most 

recent year for which respondents provided complete sales information, respondents’ sales of 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges that practice the asserted patents were as follows: 

{ 

1 

It is argued that as respondents’ average sale price is{ } per cartridge, a bond of{ 1 Per 

cartridge, or 925.17%, is appropriate. In the alternative, complainants argued that it would be 

appropriate for the Commission to set a bond to be applied exclusively to the Ninestar and Town 

Sky respondents’ imported Epson-compatible ink cartridges that practice the asserted patents, in 

the amount of{ 

would be appropriate as to Dataproducts; and that, a bond of{ 

would be appropriate as to MMC and Zhuhai Gree. (CBr at 221-22.) 

} per cartridge, or 968.79%; that a bond of{ }per cartridge, or 92.20%, 

} or 1033.08%’ 
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The active respondents argued that complainants have not shown that the active 

respondents have anything more than relatively small economic impact on Complainants’ 

business and thus there is no realistic danger to complainants’ business should respondents 

continue to import products during the Presidential review period for any exclusion order that 

issues as a result of this investigation, and therefore, a bond with respect to the active 

respondents for them to continue importation of the accused products during the Presidential 

review period is not warranted. It was further argued that should a bond be ordered, the amount 

of the bond could be set based upon a reasonable royalty; that many types and models of Ninestar 

products are accused in this investigation; that the complexity caused by this variety has forced 

the parties to streamline the issues of the investigation by the use of representative cartridges and 

even the representative cartridges require a matrix to apply them; that this large number of 

cartridges and types of cartridges makes it exceptionally difficulty to compare the actual price 

differences between respondents’ cartridges and Seiko’s cartridges on a cartridge by cartridge 

basis; and that given the lack of risk of damage, the large number of different products and the 

short review period, a low bond rate below 3% should be sufficient. (RBr at 208-09.) 

The MMC respondents, in a joint submission regarding bonding dated January 16,2007, 

argued that respondents MMC and Zhuhai Gree have historically had a relatively small economic 

impact on complainants’ business and hence, there is no realistic danger of affecting 

Complainants’ business during the Presidential review period for any exclusion order that results 

from this investigation; and that there is no evidence of record showing that MMC and Zhuhai 

Gree significantly undercut Complainants’ prices. Hence, the MMC respondents do not believe a 

bond with respect to them is warranted. However, if a bond is ordered, it is argued that the 
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amount should be set according to what would be a reasonable royalty for the Presidential review 

period; that in this investigation there are many various types of ink cartridges at issue, to the 

point where the parties have been forced to streamline the issues by using representative 

groupings of the cartridges for the hearing; that the number of different types of ink cartridges 

involved makes it difficult to compare actual price differences, cartridge by cartridge; and that in 

this situation, in past investigations, the Commission has used a reasonable royalty measurement 

for a bond amount, citing G, Plastic Encamulated Inteaated - Circuits, ITC Inc. No. 337-TA- 

315 Commission Op. (March 24, 1992) (Integrated Circuits; and that using the 2.5% royalty 

figure from Inteaated Circuits), a bond based on a reasonably royalty in this investigation would 

be “$1,650.00.” 

The staff argued that the evidence shows that sales of the accused products produce very 

high margins based on supplemental prehearing statements concerning bonding filed by the 

private parties; that the evidence also shows a great price differential with complainants’ ink 

cartridges selling for approximately{ 

respondents which sell for approximately{ 

appear to be typical of the respondents’s products in general; and that thus a bond of 1000% 

would be needed to protect complainants during the Presidential review period. (SBr at 120.) The 

staff also supported complainants’ proposal of a 925 % bond as to all imported infringing 

cartridges. (SRBr at 8.) 

} per unit compared to the accused products of the active 

} that the products of the active respondents 

In its fiscal year running from April 1,2005 to March 3 1,2006, Epson America sold 

}Epson’s average sales price 
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for ink cartridges that practice the patent claims asserted in this Investigation is therefore{ 

} Ninestar Zhuhai did not provide complainants with information as to 

its sales in 2005 of Epson-compatible ink cartridges to unaffiliated parties Ninestar Zhuhai did 

provide sales from October to December 2005, but such sales were made predominantly to 

Ninestar U.S., Town Sky, and other affiliated companies. (CFF x11.3 (undisputed).) 

In 2005, Ninestar U.S. sold in the United States{ } Epson-compatible ink 

cartridges that practice the asserted patents and earned revenues of{ 

(CX-928C at 6-8.) In 2005, Town Sky sold in the United States{ 

cartridges that practice the asserted patents and earned revenues of{ 

} therefrom. 

}Epson-compatible ink 

} therefrom. 

(CX-892C.) Combined, Ninestar U.S. and Town Sky sold in the United States{ 1 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges that practice the asserted patents and earned total revenues of 

{ 

cartridges was{ 

the United States{ 

} therefrom, and therefore the active respondents’ average sale price for such ink 

} Between February 1,2005 and December 31,2005, Dataproducts sold in 

} Epson-compatible ink cartridges that practice the asserted patents and 

earned revenues of { } therefrom, for an average sale price of{ }(CX-l042C; 

CX-1043C.) Zhuhai Gree provided only consolidated sales information for the period from 2003 

to 2006 regarding sales made in the United States. (CX-1289C Zhuhai Gree supplemental 

response to interrogatory no. 117 at 3-1 1.) In 2005, MMC sold in the United States { 1 

Epson-compatible ink cartridges that practice the asserted patents and earned revenues of 

{ 

response to interrogatory no. 122(a) at 4; CX-865C at 3-7.) Combined, Ninestar U.S., Town Sky, 

Dataproducts and MMC sold{ 

} therefrom, for an average sale price of { } (CX-864C MMC supplemental 

} Epson-compatible ink cartridges that practice the 

367 



asserted patents in the United States in 2005, and earned revenues of{ }therefrom, and 

therefore respondents’ average sale price for such ink cartridges was{ }(CX-864C MMC 

supplemental response to interrogatory no. 122(a) at 4; CX-86% at 3-7; CX-892C; CX-928C at 

6-8; CX-1042C; CX-1043C.) 

The administrative law judge rejects any reliance on Integrated Circuits on the ground 

that that case was based on the particular evidence in that investigation concerning a royalty rate. 

- See Integrated Circuits Commission Op. at 45. Based on the difference between complainants’ 

average sales price of{ 

{ 

supplemental response to interrogatory no. 122(a) at 4; CX-865C at 3-7; CX-892C; CX-928C at 

}cartridge and all respondents’ average sale price of 

}/cartridge, a bond of $13.60/cartridge is recommended. (See CX-864C MMC 

6-8; CX-1042C; CX-1043C; CX-1358C; CX-1508C.) 
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Xm. Additional Findings of Fact 

A. Parties 

Complainants 

1. Seiko Epson Corporation (Seiko Epson) is a corporation organized under the laws 

of Japan with its principal place of business at 3-3-5 Owa, Suwa-Shi, Nagano-Ken, 392-8502, 

Japan. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 5 at 3.) 

2. Seiko Epson is a large multinational company that manufactures printers, 

scanners, multifunction printers, large format printers, cartridges, cameras, LCDs, chips, watches, 

and clocks, among other products. (McEvers Tr. at 154:17-23.) 

3. Seiko Epson has a research and development department that designs and 

engineers new products. (McEvers Tr. at 154:24-155:4.) 

4. Subject to the exclusive licenses described below, Seiko Epson owns all rights, 

title and interest in the following United States patents relating generally to ink cartridges for 

printers: the '957 patent, which was duly and legally issued to Seiko Epson by the United States 

Patent and Trademark Office on April 1, 1997; the '439 patent, which was duly and legally issued 

to Seiko Epson by the United States Patent and Trademark Office on April 22, 1997; the '377 

patent, which was duly and legally issued to Seiko Epson by the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office on October 27, 1992; the '148 patent, which was duly and legally issued to 

Seiko Epson by the United States Patent and Trademark Office on June 22, 1993; the '472 patent, 

which was duly and legally issued to Seiko Epson by the United States Patent and Trademark 

Office on October 20, 1992; the '401 patent, which was duly and legally issued to Seiko Epson by 

the United States Patent and Trademark Office on January 30, 1996; the '917 patent, which was 

I 
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duly and legally issued to Seiko Epson by the United States Patent and Trademark Office on 

January 7,2003; the '902 patent, which was duly and legally issued to Seiko Epson by the United 

States Patent and Trademark Office on April 22,2003; the '422 patent, which was duly and 

legally issued to Seiko Epson by the United States Patent and Trademark Office on October 18, 

2005; the '053 patent, which was duly and legally issued to Seiko Epson by the United States 

Patent and Trademark Office on March 7,2006; and the '397 patent, which was duly and legally 

issued to Seiko Epson by the United States Patent and Trademark Office on March 14,2006. 

(CX-1 to cx-18.) 

5.  Epson Portland Inc. (Epson Portland) is an Oregon corporation with its principal 

place of business located at 3950 NW Aloclek Place, Hillsboro, Oregon 97124. (CX-1443 

Amended Complaint 3 at 2.) 

6. Epson Portland is a wholly owned subsidiary of US Epson Inc., which is a wholly 

owned subsidiary of Seiko Epson. (McEvers Tr. at 150:9-13.) 

7. Seiko Epson has granted Epson Portland the exclusive right to manufacture ink 

cartridges in the United States that utilize the patents-in-suit. (McEvers Tr. at 150: 14-20, 

152:12-153:9; CX-763C at 1.) 

8. Epson Portland has manufactured ink cartridges for Seiko Epson continuously 

since 1999. (McEvers Tr. at 149:22-150%) 

9. Epson America, Inc. (Epson America) is a California corporation with its 

principal place of business at 3840 Kilroy Airport Way, Long Beach, California 90806. 

(CX-1443 Amended Complaint 4 at 2-3.) 

10. Epson America has the exclusive right to market and sell ink cartridges in the 
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United States that utilize the patents-in-suit. (CX-761C 2-3 at 1-2.) 

1 1. Epson America is responsible for sales and marketing in North America for the 

Seiko Epson brand of products, including ink cartridges. (McEvers Tr. at 21 1:21-25.) 

Rewondents 

12. Ninestar Technology Co., Ltd. (Ninestar Zhuhai) is a corporation organized under 

the laws of China with its principal place of business at No. 63 Mingzhubei Road, Xiangzhou 

District, Guangdong, China. (CX-8 16C Ninestar Zhuhai Response to Amended Complaint 12 at 

3-4.) 

13. Prior to answering the complaint, Ninestar Zhuhai changed its English corporate 

name from Ninestar Image Co., Ltd. to Ninestar Technology Co. Ltd. (CX-800 Ninestar Zhuhai 

Response to Complaint 12 at 3.) 

14. Ninestar Zhuhai manufactures and sells for importation into the United States ink 

cartridges. (CX-816C Ninestar Zhuhai Response to Amended Complaint 12 at 3-4.) 

15. Ninestar Technology Company Ltd. (Ninestar U.S.) has a place of business 

located at 4620 Mission Boulevard, Montclair, California. (CX-8 17C Ninestar U.S. Response to 

Amended Complaint 13 at 4.) 

16. Ninestar U.S. imports and sells after importation into the United States ink 

cartridges manufactured by Ninestar Zhuhai. (CX-8 17C Ninestar U.S. Response to Amended 

Complaint 13 at 4.) 

17. Town Sky Inc. (“Town Sky”) is a corporation organized under the laws of 

California with its principal place of business located at 5 South Linden Avenue, Suite 4, South 

San Francisco, California. (CX-820C Town Sky Response to Amended Complaint 14 at 4.) 
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18. Town Sky imports and sells after importation into the United States ink cartridges 

manufactured by Ninestar Zhuhai. (CX-82OC Town Sky Response to Amended Complaint 14 at 

4.) 

19. Ninestar U.S. and Town Sky are United States distributors and resellers of ink 

cartridges manufactured by Ninestar Zhuhai. (CX-883C response to interrogatory no. 131 at 

10-1 1.) 

20. Ninestar Zhuhai, Ninestar U.S. and Town Sky are affiliates of each other. 

(CX-816C Ninestar Zhuhai Response to Amended Complaint 13, 14 at 4.) 

21. Ninestar Zhuhai is the owner and parent company of Ninestar U.S. and Town Sky. 

(CX-879 response to interrogatory no. 7 at 7.) 

22. Dataproducts USA LLC (Dataproducts) is a corporation organized under the laws 

of Delaware with its principal place of business located at 2001 Anchor Court, Thousand Oaks, 

California. (CX-808 Dataproducts Response to Amended Complaint 26 at 7.) 

23. Dataproducts sells for importation into the United States, imports, and sells after 

importation into the United States ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CX-828C response 

to interrogatory no. 120 at 14-15.) 

24. Zhuhai Gree Magneto-Electric Co. Ltd (Zhuhai Gree) is a corporation organized 

under the laws of China with its principal place of business located at 205, Shihua West Road, 

Zhuhai, Guangdong Province, China. (CX-823C Zhuhai Gree's Response to Amended Complaint 

15 at 3; CX-13OOC Zhuhai Gree's response to interrogatory no. 116(b) at 15.) 

25. Zhuhai Gree manufactures and sells for importation into the United States ink 

cartridges, including ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CX-823C Zhuhai Gree's 
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Response to Amended Complaint 15 at 3.) 

26. MMC Consumables Inc. (MMC) is a corporation organized under the laws of 

California with its principal place of business located at 20456 Carrey Road, Walnut, California. 

(CX-814C MMC's Response to Amended Complaint 16 at 3-4.) 

27. MMC imports into the United States and sells after importation ink cartridges 

manufactured by Zhuhai Gree, including ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CX-814C 

MMC's Response to Amended Complaint 15-16 at 3-4.) 

28. Butterfly Print Image Corporation (Butterfly) was found to be in default by Initial 

Determination (Order No. 12) entered on June 26,2006. The Commission did not review and 

thus adopted the initial determination by notice dated July 19,2006. (Notice of Commission 

Determination Not to Review Initial Determination Finding Five Respondents in Default.) 

Butterfly is a corporation organized under the laws of Hong Kong and has a 29. 

principal place of business located at Units 811-812, 8/F Park Sun Buliding, 103-107 Wo Yi Hop 

Rd., Kwai Chung, N.T., Hong Kong. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 7 at 3-4.) 

30. Butterfly manufactures and sells for importation into the United States ink 

cartridges, including ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 

7 at 3-4.) 

31. Glory South Software Manufacturing Inc. (Glory South) was found to be in 

default by Initial Determination (Order No. 12) entered on June 26,2006. The Commission did 

not review and thus adopted the initial determination by notice dated July 19,2006. (Notice of 

Commission Determination Not to Review Initial Determination Finding Five Respondents in 

Default.) 
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32. Glory South was served by the Commission with the original and amended 

complaints. (Notice of Commission Determination Not to Review Initial Determination Finding 

Five Respondents in Default, July 19,2006.) 

33. Glory South is a California corporation with principal place of business located at 

6481 Orangethorpe Avenue, Suite 6, Buena Park, California. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 6 

at 3.) 

34. Glory South imports and sells after importation into the United States ink 

cartridges manufactured by Butterfly, including ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. 

(CX-1443 Amended Complaint 6 at 3.) 

35. AcuJet U.S.A., Inc. (AcuJet) was found to be in default by initial determination 

(Order No. 12) entered on June 26,2006. The Commission did not review and thus adopted the 

initial determination by notice dated July 19,2006. (Notice of Commission Determination Not to 

Review Initial Determination Finding Five Respondents in Default.) 

36. AcuJet was served by the Commission with the original and amended complaints. 

(Notice of Commission Determination Not to Review Initial Determination Findmg Five 

Respondents in Default, July 19,2006.) 

37. AcuJet is a California corporation with its principal place of business located at 

128 S. 6th Avenue, City of Industry, California. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 29 at 10.) 

38. AcuJet is affiliated with respondent Master Ink Co., Ltd. (Master Ink) and imports 

and sells after importation into the United States ink cartridges manufactured by Master Ink, 

including ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 29 at 10.) 

39. Mipo International Ltd. (Mipo) was found to be in default by initial determination 
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(Order No. 12) entered on June 26,2006. The Commission did not review and thus adopted the 

initial determination by notice dated July 19,2006. (Notice of Commission Determination Not to 

Review Initial Determination Finding Five Respondents in Default.) 

40. Mipo is a private limited company organized under the laws of Hong Kong with 

its principal place of business located at Flat B, 1 lF, Wong Tze Building, 71 Hoe Yuen Road, 

Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 10 at 4.) 

41. Mipo manufactures and sells for importation into the United States ink cartridges, 

including ink cartridges for use with Epson printers. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 10 at 4.) 

42. Mipo America Ltd., dba Mextec Group Inc. (Mipo America) was found to be in 

default by Initial Determination (Order No. 12) entered on June 26,2006. The Commission did 

not review and thus adopted the Initial Determination by notice dated July 19,2006. (Notice of 

Commission Determination Not to Review Initial Determination Finding Five Respondents in 

Default.) 

43. Mipo America was served by the Commission with the original and amended 

complaints. (Notice of Commission Determination Not to Review Initial Determination Finding 

Five Respondents in Default, July 19,2006.) 

44. Mipo America is a corporation organized under the laws of Florida with its 

principal place of business located at 3100 N.W. 72nd Avenue #106, Miami, Florida. (CX-1443 

Amended Complaint 11 at 5.) 

45. Mipo America is affiliated with Mipo and imports and sells after importation into 

the United States ink cartridges manufactured by Mipo, including ink cartridges for use with 

Epson printers. (CX-1443 Amended Complaint 10 at 4.) 
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